FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 12/31/2018 2:41 PM NO. 352625

96696-6

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARIA ESPINDOLA,

Appellant,

v.

APPLE KING, INC.,

Respondent.

APPLE KING'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Gary E. Lofland, WSBA No. 12150 Sean M. Worley, WSBA No. 46734 MEYER, FLUEGGE & TENNEY 230 S. Second St. Yakima, WA 98902 (509) 575-8500

Counsel for Apple King, Inc.

	Page
1.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
2.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
3.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
4.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
5.	ARGUMENT5
	A. STANDARD FOR REVIEW

1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Defendant Apple King, Inc. (hereafter "Apple King").

2. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published opinion, Espindola v. Apple King (No. 35262-5-III), filed November 29, 2018. The Court of Appeals' decision found that Apple King's attendance policy did not account for an employee's right to take unforeseeable leave under the state and federal family medical leave acts, and as a result, the policy did not provide a legitimate basis for adverse employment action. In addition, the Court of Appeals' decision found that issues of fact precluded entry of summary judgment in regard to Ms. Espindola's claims of retaliation under 29 C.F.R. § 825.220(c). A copy of the opinion is attached to the Appendix. (Appendix 0001).

This case has broad policy implications and involves significant issues of law, meriting review. The Court of Appeals' decision implicates a significant issue for all employers in Washington and for the public at large.

3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Did the Court of Appeals lack jurisdiction to hear the appeal under RAP 2.2(c)?

- B. Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with the FMLA regulations by decreasing the employee's notification requirements and increasing the employer's investigatory burden, contrary to the declared purpose of the FMLA/WFLA and the intent of RCW 49.78.410?
- C. Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with the FMLA regulations permitting employers to require employees to comply with their usual and customary notice and procedural requirements?
- D. Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with FMLA caselaw characterizing Ms. Espindola's claims as interference claims, contrary to the intent of RCW 49.78.410?
- E. Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with FMLA caselaw regarding the standard for FMLA retaliation claims, contrary to the intent of RCW 49.78.410?

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 18, 2014, a complaint was filed on behalf of Ms. Espindola in Yakima County District Court. The complaint alleged violations of (1) the Washington Law Against Discrimination RCW 49.60 (WLAD); (2) the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C § 12111 (ADA); (3) the Family Medical Leave Act 29 U.S.C. 2614 (FMLA); and (4) the Washington Family Leave Act, RCW 49.78 (WFLA). Specifically,

Ms. Espindola alleged that her employment with Apple King was terminated

...in retaliation and discrimination for missing work due to her pregnancy and serious health condition during her pregnancy which violated the FMLA 29 U.S.C. § 2614, 29 C.F.R. 825.215 (a)...and RCW 49.78 [the WFLA].

Complaint ¶4.6 (Appendix 0023).

Cross motions for summary judgment were heard by District Court Judge Kevin Roy on January 8, 2016. On February 19, 2016, Judge Roy entered an Order Granting Summary Judgment in favor of Defendant Apple King on Plaintiff's (1) WLAD claims, (2) ADA claims, and (3) interference claims under the FMLA. (Appendix 0030). Ms. Espindola has never appealed the February 19, 2016 Order Granting Summary Judgment.

On June 15, 2016, cross motions for summary judgment were again heard by Judge Roy, regarding Plaintiff's retaliation/discrimination claims under the FMLA. A letter decision was issued on June 22, 2016, and an Order was entered on September 16, 2016, granting Apple King's motion and dismissing Ms. Espindola's retaliation/discrimination claims under the FMLA. (Appendix 0034 & 0036).

On July 22, 2016, Ms. Espindola filed a Notice of Appeal to the Yakima County Superior Court. The notice only requested review of the

"Order granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment as to FMLA + WSFLA retaliation + discrimination claims. Order date 6/22." (Appendix 0038). No appeal was filed on the other claims.

On May 1, 2017, Superior Court Judge Michael McCarthy upheld the decision of Judge Roy, and again granted summary judgment in favor of Apple King on the claim of retaliation/discrimination. (Appendix 0040). Ms. Espindola's abandoned interference claims were not reviewed by Judge McCarthy.

On August 4, 2017, Division III of the Court of Appeals granted discretionary review. The issue presented for review was, "Whether an employer violates the FMLA and/or WSFLA when he terminates an employee for using protected leave." *Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review to Court of Appeals*, at 1 (Appendix 0041).

On November 29, 2018, the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the matter. In reversing the order granting summary judgment, the Court: (1) held that there were issues of fact as to whether Ms. Espindola provided Apple King with sufficient notice to satisfy leave notice requirements, (2) held that Apple King could not rely upon its usual and customary notice policies under 29 C.F.R. §§ 825.302(d), .303(c), and .304 because its policy did not comport with FMLA/WFLA standard for

invoking leave, (3) characterized the issue presented as a retaliation/discrimination claim under the FMLA, (4) held that the *McDonnell Douglas* burden shifting analysis does not apply to retaliation/discrimination claims under the FMLA, and (5) rejected the Ninth Circuit's interpretation of claims based on 29 C.F.R. § 825.220(c) as retaliation/discrimination claims.

5. ARGUMENT

A. Standard for Review

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

This Court should accept review because, as shown below, the Court of Appeals' ruling is contrary to law and involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals' decision does not simply affect Apple King or this lawsuit. The decision implicates all employers in this State and calls into question the notice necessary for employees to apprise an employer of the need to take qualifying FMLA leave, as well as the adequacy of personnel policies upon which employers rely to maintain order in the workplace and create an understanding of the expectations of employees.

B. The Court of Appeals Lacked Jurisdiction to Hear Ms. Espindola's Appeal

The Washington State Constitution provides that the Court of Appeals may review Superior Court actions "as provided by statute or by rule authorized by statute." WA. Const. Art. IV, § 30(3). Pursuant to RCW 2.06.030, the administration and procedures of the Court of Appeals "shall be as provided by the rules of the supreme court." The Rules of Appellate Procedure do not authorize an appeal from a Superior Court review of a decision of a Court of Limited Jurisdiction unless the review proceeding was a trial de novo. RAP 2.2(c)

The language of RAP 2.2(c) is clear and unambiguous "...a party may appeal **only** if the review proceeding was a trial de novo..." RAP 2.2(c) [emphasis added]. Principles of statutory construction are applied to the interpretation of court rules. *Interstate Prop. Credit Assn. v. MacHugh*,

90 Wn.App. 650, 654 (1998). Language that is clear on its face does not require or permit any construction. *State v. McIntyre*, 92 Wn.2d 620, 622 (1979). One rule of statutory construction is "where there is no ambiguity in a statute, there is nothing for the court to interpret." *McIntyre*, 92 Wn.2d at 622; *State v. Ruth*, 78 Wn.2d 711, 714 (1971).

Here the court rule is clear, an appeal from a superior court review of a district court decision is limited and cannot be taken in this matter because it did not involve a trial de novo. RAP 2.2 does not merely indicate when an appeal is available as a matter of right from a court of limited jurisdiction, it indicates the circumstances in which an appeal is ever permitted from a court of limited jurisdiction (regardless of whether it is as a matter of right or discretionary). The Court of Appeals' decision to accept discretionary review was contrary to the law, and this is a matter of substantial public import because it affects the right to appeal for all litigants involved in Washington State District Court matters; the Supreme Court should accept review to clarify the scope of the Court of Appeals' jurisdiction to hear appeals pursuant to RAP 2.2.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with FMLA Regulations by Decreasing the Employee's Notification Requirements and Increasing the Employer's Investigatory Burden, Contrary to the Declared Purpose of the FMLA/WFLA and the Intent of RCW 49.78.410

The Court of Appeals' decision alters the requirement for employees to provide adequate or sufficient notice to inform their employer of the need for FMLA/WFLA leave, particularly in the context of intermittent leave. The decision indicates that once an employee provides "notice that he or she 'may' have a condition that qualifies for FMLA/WFLA leave... the employer is obliged to either grant protected leave or investigate whether the employee's condition qualifies for leave." *Espindola v. Apple King*, 430 P.3d 663, 670 (2018) (internal citations omitted). However, the Court of Appeals does not account for the passage of time, or circumstances in which the employee was granted FMLA leave and returns to work without notice of a continuing need for treatment (as in this case).

When an employer has previously provided FMLA leave to an employee, the Court of Appeals' new standard would require the employer to assume (or investigate as to whether) each future absence is related to the prior leave. It is not clear when this obligation would expire, if ever.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with FMLA regulations by placing a burden on employers which the regulations specifically place on employees. To provide notice that an unforeseeable absence may qualify for FMLA leave, the regulations require:

An employee shall provide sufficient information for an employer to reasonably determine whether the FMLA may apply... Calling in "sick" without providing more information will not be considered sufficient notice..."

29 C.F.R. § 825.303(b)

Similarly 29 C.F.R. § 825.301(b) provides:

... An employee giving notice of the need for FMLA leave must explain the reasons for the needed leave so as to allow the employer to determine whether the leave qualifies under the Act.

Particularly when an employee has not provided notice of a continuing need for treatment, employers are not required to assume that every absence is related to prior FMLA leave. At a minimum, the employee is required to explain the reasons for a particular absence before a "probable basis" for FMLA leave has been raised and the employer is considered on notice that a condition "may" qualify for FMLA/WFLA leave. 29 C.F.R. § 825.303(b); *See also Aubuchon v. Knauf Fiberglass, GmbH*, 359 F.3d 950, 953 (7th Cir. 2004) (Rejecting the position that a demand for leave may trigger a duty to determine whether the requested leave is covered by FMLA – "That is an extreme position... the consequence would be to place a substantial and largely wasted investigative burden on employers.").

Further, the Court of Appeals' decision does not comport with the declared purpose of the FMLA to provide "reasonable leave for medical

purposes" in a manner that "accommodates the legitimate interests of employers." 29 U.S.C. § 2601(b); RCW 49.78.010. The decision removes an employee's obligation to provide *any* notice of the reason for taking subsequent leave, or the need for continuing treatment, as long as the employee had FMLA qualifying leave at some time in the past. The law does not require an employer to guess as to why an employee is absent on a particular occasion, particularly when the prior request did not indicate a continuing need for treatment. At a minimum, when the employee has a subsequent absence, the employee is required to tell the employer why the employee was absent before the employer's obligation to inquire further is triggered. 29 C.F.R. §§ 825.301(b); .303(b).

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with numerous Circuits' opinions indicating that notice is deficient where the employee fails to convey the reason for needing leave. *See Nicholson v. Pulte Homes Corp.*, 690 F.3d 819, 826 (7th Cir. 2012); *Sarnowski v. Air Brook Limo*, 510 F.3d 398, 402 (3rd Cir. 2007); *Brenneman v. Med. Central Health*, 366 F.3d 412, 423-24 (6th Cir. 2004); *Woods v. Daimler Chrysler*, 409 F.3d 984, 992-93 (8th Cir. 2005).

As a result, the Court of Appeals' decision has created confusion as to an employee's notice requirements under the FMLA/WFLA, particularly in the context of intermittent leave. The decision conflicts

with the federal regulations, contrary to the intent of RCW 49.78.410. This is an issue of substantial public interest, as it affects all employers and employees in Washington State, and should be resolved by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

D. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with FMLA Regulations Permitting Employers to Require Employee's to Comply with Their Usual and Customary Notice and Procedural Requirements

The Court of Appeals decision alters the requirements for an employer to rely on internal notification procedures pursuant to 29 C.F.R. §§ 825.302(d), .303(c), and .304, by holding that an employer cannot deny an employee's right to protected leave based on noncompliance with the employer's policy, unless the policy also indicates a procedure for notification of unforeseeable leave under 29 C.F.R. § 825.303(a). *See Espindola*, 430 P.3d at 671. The Court's decision implies that an employer's policy must include *all* FMLA/WFLA standards for invoking leave before an employer may rely on the policy. *Id.* This is not an accurate reflection of the law, nor is it a workable standard. The regulations do not require the employer's policy to specifically indicate a procedure for notification of unforeseeable leave, and there is no authority

¹ Under this new rule, the only way to assure compliance would be to include copies of all relevant statutes and regulations in an employer's policies.

11

requiring employers to notify employees of the right to take unforeseeable leave.

The regulations indicate that, "An employer may require an employee to comply with the employer's usual and customary notice and procedural requirements for requesting leave, absent circumstances." See 29 C.F.R. § 825.302(d) (emphasis added). Even when the leave is not foreseeable, "an employee must comply with the employer's usual and customary notice and procedural requirements for requesting leave, absent unusual circumstances." 29 C.F.R. § 825.303(c) (emphasis added). "Unusual circumstances would include situations such as when an employee is unable to comply with the employer's policy..." 29 C.F.R. § 302(d). But the regulations also specifically state that, "Where an employee does not comply with the employer's usual notice and procedural requirements, and no unusual circumstances justify the failure to comply, FMLA-protected leave may be delayed or denied." 29 C.F.R. § 302(d).

In sum, an employer's policy is not nullified if it lacks a procedure for requesting unforeseeable leave. The regulations contemplate that unusual circumstances are an exception to the policy, to be evaluated separately from the policy. The record in this matter indicates that Apple King complied with these requirements, and did not enforce its attendance

policy when unusual circumstances justified Ms. Espindola's failure to comply with the policy. (Appendix 0056 - Dep. Aparicio 0060:9-24).

Further, there is no authority requiring employers to notify employees of the right to unforeseeable leave, nor the procedures for requesting foreseeable leave. By imputing this requirement into 29 C.F.R. §§ 825.302(d), .303(c), and .304, the Court of Appeals has added requirements not contained in the FMLA and called into question the policies of Washington State employers who relied on the posting requirements of 29 C.F.R. § 825.300 and the Department of Labor's prototype notice (WHD Publication 1420), to meet their notice requirements. A copy of the Department of Labor's notice is attached in the appendix. (Appendix 0062).

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with 29 C.F.R. §§ 825.302(d), .303(c), and .304, and added a requirement to personnel/absentee policies that is not required by the FMLA contrary to the intent of RCW 49.78.410, which has created confusion as to the adequacy of employers' policies in Washington State. This is an issue of substantial public interest, as it affects all employers and employees in Washington State, and should be resolved by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

E. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with Federal Caselaw Characterizing Ms. Espindola's Claims as Interference Claims, Contrary to the Intent of RCW 49.78.410

Ms. Espindola has never appealed her interference claims, which were dismissed by Judge Roy in an Order on Summary Judgment dated February 19, 2016. Ms. Espindola only appealed the June 22, 2016 "Order granting Defendant's motion for Summary Judgment and denying Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment as to FMLA + WSFLA retaliation + discrimination claims." (Appendix 0038). However, under the applicable Ninth Circuit caselaw, Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review clearly indicates the purported issue on appeal is an interference claim. (Appendix 0041, at 1). The Court of Appeals' decision mischaracterized the issue on appeal as a retaliation/discrimination claim, and as a result, applied the incorrect standard to the claim. This creates confusion as to the status of the law in Washington State.

1. Retaliation vs. Interference Claims

The WFLA mirrors the provisions of the FMLA. In enacting the WFLA the Washington State legislature provided:

This chapter must be construed to the extent possible in a manner that is consistent with similar provisions, if any, of the federal family and medical leave act of 1993 (Act Feb. 5, 1996 P.L. 103-3, 107 Stat. 6) and that gives consideration to the rules, precedents, and practices of the federal department of labor relevant to the federal act.

RCW 49.78.410

The courts have recognized two distinct theories for recovery on FMLA claims: (1) retaliation/discrimination and (2) interference. 29 C.F.R. § 825.220(b); *Xin Liu v. Amway Corp.*, 347 F.3d 1125, 1133 (9th Cir. 2003) (approving the USDOL interpretation); *see also Smith v. Diffee Ford-Lincoln-Mercury*, 298 F.3d 955, 960 (10th Cir. 2002); *Strickland v. Water Works and Sewer of Birmingham*, 239 F.3d 1199, 1206 N.9 (11th Cir. 2001); *Donald v. Sybra Inc.*, 607 F.3d 757 (6th Cir. 2012). It is important to characterize the claims accurately as the two theories have different analyses.

Retaliation and discrimination claims are based on 29 U.S.C. § 2615(a)(2) and (b), which make it unlawful for an employer to "discharge" or "discriminate against" an employee for "opposing any practice made unlawful by this subchapter," filing a charge, giving information, or testifying in any proceeding related to 29 U.S.C. § 2611 et. seq. Interference claims are based on 29 U.S.C. § 2615(a)(1) and RCW 49.78.300(1)(a). *See Xin Liu*, 347 F.3d at 1133.

An interference claim makes it unlawful for an employer to "interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of or the attempt to exercise" any FMLA rights; in particular: the *substantive rights* to take up to twelve weeks of leave for qualifying reasons and the right to be resorted to the

employee's original or equivalent position. 29 U.S.C. § 2615(a)(1); RCW 49.78.300(1)(a); Washburn v. Gymboree Retail Stores, 2012 WL 3818540, *5 (USDC WD WA, 2012).

When an employee claims that her employer took negative action simply because she used FMLA, the claim is an interference claim under § 2615(a)(1). *Bachelder v. Am. W. Airlines*, 259 F.3d 1112, 1124 (9th Cir. 2001). "By their plain meaning, the anti-retaliation or anti-discrimination provisions [of 29 U.S.C. § 2615(a)(2) and (b)] do not cover visiting negative consequences on an employee simply because [she] has used FMLA leave." *Id.* Such an action is not a "retaliation" claim, it is an "interference" claim under 29 U.S.C. § 2515(a)(1). *Id.*; *see also Washburn*, 2012 WL 3818540; *accord: Xin Liu*, 347 F.3d at 1133 n.7.

2. The Court of Appeals Mischaracterized the Claim on Appeal

The claim addressed by the Court of Appeals is an interference claim, not a retaliation claim, and the Court should have dismissed the appeal because Ms. Espindola did not appeal her interference claims.

On appeal, the issue presented by Ms. Espindola was, "Whether an employer violates the FMLA and/or WSFLA when he terminates an employee for using protected leave." (Appendix 0042, at 1). As Apple King asserted in its Responsive Brief, this is an interference claim because

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