FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 1/31/2019 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/4/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 96696-6

Maria Espindola,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

v.

Apple King, Inc.,

Respondents/Defendants.

MARIA ESPINDOLA'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRTIONARY REVIEW

Favian Valencia, WSBA# 43802 Counsel for Appellant Sunlight Law, PLLC 402 E Yakima Avenue, Suite 730 Yakima, WA 98901 (509) 388-0231

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. <u>ANSWER TO APPELLEE'S ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

1. <u>The Court of Appeals Had Jurisdiction Over This Appeal</u> Pursuant to RAP 2.3(d)(3).

Appellee argues that Court of Appeals did not have jurisdiction and bases its argument on a narrow sited view of the Rules of Appellate procedure. Appellee argues that RAP 2.2(c) only allows for review of appeals of courts of limited jurisdiction only if the review proceeding was a trial de novo. This argument completely ignores the fact that RAP 2.3(d) allows for *discretionary* review of any review proceeding for decisions of superior courts reviewing decisions of courts of limited jurisdiction. Discretionary review is accepted if a decision "involves an issue of public interest which should be determined by an appellate court." RAP 2.3(d)(3). The Court of Appeals expressly held that the issues in this case were in the public interest and granted discretionary review. The Appellee itself is now arguing in its present Petition for Discretionary Review that the issues in this case are issues of broad public interest.

2. <u>The Court of Appeals' Decision Properly Addressed The Fact</u> <u>That Employers' Requirement For Employees To Comply With A</u> <u>Customary Notice And Procedure Is Only Allowed If The Notice and</u> <u>Procedure Complies With The FMLA</u>

Appellee argues that the Court of Appeals' decision alters employers FMLA's notice requirements by disqualifying Appellee's attendance policy. When an employee is not able to give 30 days' notice, the FMLA and FLA allow employees to give notice as soon as practicable. 29 U.S.C. § 2612(e); 29 C.F.R. § 825.302(a); RCW 49.78.250. When leave is unforeseeable, no advance notice is required. 29 C.F.R. §§ 825.303(a), .305(b). Appellee's attendance policy faulted employees for not giving at least 24-hour advance notice, which is a direct contradiction of the FMLA and FLA.

Appellee argues that requiring an employer to follow up on a single employee request for intermittent leave will make it so that the employer will carry this burden forever. This is an unreasonable exaggeration. Appellee ignores the fact that Appellant's need for leave was primarily related to her pregnancy, which does not last forever. The Court of Appeals' decision takes into account the fact that employees are entitled to FMLA protections for maternity leave and unexpected childbirth circumstances pursuant to RCW 49.78.250(1); 29 §§ 825.115(f), .120(a)(4), .303(c). The Court of Appeals' decision had more than sufficient basis to find that there was adequate notice to survive summary judgment considering that Appellant gave written consistent notices of need for FMLA/FLA leave to Appellee From July 7, 2011 through April 2012. (App. 28-43). Appellant also gave oral notice to Appellee of her kidney stones and gestational diabetes to the point that Appellee allowed her to check her blood sugar at work in the kitchen or bathroom. (App. 0044-66, at 9:23-10:5; and 22:2-23:15). The Court of Appeals' decision was proper and fair.

3. <u>The Court Of Appeals Properly Interpreted Appellant's</u> <u>FMLA Claim As A Retaliation Claim</u> The federal circuit courts have adopted an unnecessary and

convoluted process to analyze FMLA claims and have created two different categories of FMLA claims; interference and retaliation/discrimination. *See Bachelder v. Am. W. Airlines, Inc.,* 259 F.3d 1112, 1124–25 (9th Cir. 2001); *Burnett v. LFW Inc.,* 472 F.3d 417, 480-81 (7th Cir. 2006); *Lovland v. Employers Mut. Cas. Co.,* 674 F.3d 806 (8th Cir. 2012); 29 C.F.R. § 825.220(c). The Court of Appeals' decision

Appellant's Answer To Petition for Discretionary Review - 5 properly distilled the federal circuits' and U.S. Department of Labor's ("DOL") caselaw and regulations in its analysis of the present claim. Appellant's claim is one of retaliation/discrimination because Appellant used her taking of FMLA leave as a negative factor and terminating her.

4. <u>The Court of Appeals' Decision Properly Applied The Legal</u> <u>Standard For Retaliation Claims</u>

Appellant argues that after an employee proves a prima-facie retaliation claim, there should be a burden-shifting analysis for the employer to prove a nondiscriminatory basis for its actions. The Court of Appeals' decision holds that an employee only has to prove that she was absent for reasons covered by the FMLA, she suffered an adverse employment action and the covered leave was a negative factor in the employer's adverse employment decision. (App. 0013). Discriminatory intent is irrelevant. This is well supported by federal caselaw and regulations. *Bachelder*, 259 F.3d 1112, 1125; 29 C.F.R. § 825.220(c).

B. <u>APPELLANT'S ISSUES PRESENTED FOR</u> <u>DISCRETIONARY REVIEW</u>

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4), Appellant hereby presents the following issues for discretionary review. The issue of interpreting the FLA as its own statute is an issue of substantial public interest. Similarly, the issue of holding employers accountable for failing to have their attendance policies to conform to our statutes is also an issue of substantial public interest. The issue of award of attorney fees and costs to a successful employee at the appellate level is presented because the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court and published opinions of the Courts of Appeals.

1. <u>The FLA Should Be Interpreted As Its Own Independent Body</u> of Law, Not Dependent On The FMLA

Contrary to Appellee's argument, RCW 49.78.410 does not stand for the notion that the FLA should be interpreted the same way that federal courts interpret the FMLA. Instead our legislature expressly requests that the FLA be construed in a way that gives consideration to the "rules, precedents, and practices of the *federal department of labor* relevant to the [FMLA]." RCW 49.78.410 (emphasis added). Our legislature does not give consideration to federal courts interpreting the FMLA, but only the US DOL, which codifies its rules, precedents and practices in the Code of Federal Regulations and on its website. Appellee's reading of RCW 49.78.410 requires our State to succumb to the confusion and complication of the federal circuits analysis of the FMLA.

Our State has always been a leader in implementing clear, fair and practical caselaw to help our workforce and economy thrive. This is illustrated in the higher standards that our courts have established for analyzing disability discrimination claims, for example. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act and the federal case law, employees have to prove that *but for* their disability, they would not have suffered

Appellant's Answer To Petition for Discretionary Review - 7 discrimination. *T.B. ex rel. Brenneise v. San Diego Unified Sch. Dist.*, 806 F.3d 451, 473 (9th Cir. 2015); 42 U.S.C.A § 12132. This is a high burden to meet because employees are made to prove a negative; that there was no other reason for the adverse employment action. This standard allows employers to dodge liability by simply coming up with any potential reason for the adverse employment action, which makes it so that only perfect employees can stand a chance. This is inefficient at achieving the purpose of these anti-discrimination statutes, which is to eradicate discrimination.

Our State's disability discrimination statute, on the other hand, requires our employees to "present evidence sufficient for a trier of fact to reasonably conclude that the alleged unlawfully discriminatory animus was more likely than not a *substantial factor* in the adverse employment action." *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 186-87, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) (emphasis added); RCW 49.60.180(1). This is a more practical standard that gives both the employer and employee a fair starting point.

Our State is one of the first to provide paid family leave (starting in 2020) and continues to be a role model for the rest of the country in fair employment practices. Our state recognizes that when we treat our employees fairly and with respect, our workforce and economy will thrive.

This is best expressed by our Supreme Court expressing that "remedial statutes in Title 49 RCW should be liberally construed to carry out the legislature's goal of protecting employees." *Bostain v. Food Exp., Inc.,* 153 P.3d 846, 852 (Wash. 2007).

This is the perfect opportunity for our Supreme Court to give life to our FLA and establish standards that are aligned with our People's values. Our courts already have established fair and clear standards for anti-retaliation/discrimination claims that can easily be applied to the FLA. To prove a disability retaliation claim, for example, an employee must show that (1) she engaged in a statutorily protected activity, (2) an adverse employment action was taken, and (3) the statutorily protected activity was a substantial factor in the employer's adverse employment decision. *Francom v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 98 Wn. App. 845, 861-62, 991 P.2d 1182, 1191 (Div. III, 2000). This is a straightforward and fair approach that does away with all the confusion of categorizing a claim as an interference, retaliation or discrimination claim.

Furthermore, the FLA is self-sufficient. It entitles an employee to:

"a total of twelve workweeks of leave during any twelve-month period for one or more of the following: (a) Because of the birth of a child of the employee and in order to care for the child; [or] (d) Because of a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the functions of the position of the employee." RCW 49.78.220. RCW 49.78.230(1)(b) establishes that:

"leave may be taken intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule when medically necessary for medical treatment of a serious health condition by or under the supervision of a health care provider, or for recovery from treatment or recovery from a serious health condition."

RCW 49.78.300(1)(b) makes it unlawful for an employer to

discharge an individual for taking FLA leave. This statute does not make

any distinction between interference, discrimination, restraint or

retaliation. Our State is ready for our FLA to take on a life of its own.

It is even more urgent now to promulgate standards for the FLA

considering that these are the standards that we will be utilizing when our

paid medical leave program goes into effect in 2020.

2. <u>No-Fault Attendance Policies That Curtail FMLA And FLA</u> Benefits Are A Violation In And Of Itself

29 CFR § 825.220(c) expressly states that FMLA leave cannot be "counted under no fault attendance policies." Appellee's attendance policy counted employees' unforeseeable leave under its no-fault policy if the employee did not give more than 24-hour advance notice. (App. 0030). This is a violation of the FMLA (and the FLA, pursuant to RCW 49.78.410) and was proximate cause of Plaintiff's termination. This should be its own cause of action because the policy violates the FMLA/FLA. This is the strongest checks and balances to ensure that employers are following our statutes.

3. <u>Employees Are Entitled To Attorney Fees and Costs at The</u> <u>Appellate Level</u>

The Court of Appeals' decision indicated that attorney fees and costs are not allowed at the appellate level. This is contrary to our courts caselaw. A party is entitled to an award of attorney fees on appeal if a contract, statute, or recognized ground of equity permits recovery of attorney fees at trial and the party is the substantially prevailing party on appeal. *Hwang v. McMahill,* 103 Wash.App. 945, 954, 15 P.3d 172 (2000) (citing *Dayton v. Farmers Ins. Group,* 124 Wash.2d 277, 280, 876 P.2d 896 (1994). In this case RAP 18.1, 29 U.S.C. § 2617(a)(3), 29 C.F.R. § 400(c) and RCW 49.48.030 entitle successful employees with attorney fees and costs. This is because in bringing an employment discrimination action, a prevailing party acts as a "private attorney general: by enforcing a public policy of substantial importance." *Allison v. Hous. Auth. of City of Seattle,* 118 Wn.2d 79, 86, 821 P.2d 34, 36 (1991).

Part of a "comprehensive scheme to ensure payment of wages," the attorney fee statute provides employees both an incentive and a means to pursue their claims to unpaid wages or salary. *Schilling v. Radio Holdings, Inc.*, 136 Wn.2d 152, 157, 961 P.2d 371 (1998). "One of the primary purposes of remedial statutes like RCW 49.48.030 is to allow employees to pursue claims even though the amount of recovery may be small." *Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett*, 146 Wn.2d 29, 50, 42 P.3d 1265, 1275 (2002); *see also: Schilling*, 136 Wn.2d 152, 159.

The Court has discretion as to how much to award in fees. "As nearly as possible, market standards should prevail, for that is the best way of ensuring that competent counsel will be available to all persons with bona fide civil rights claims. This means that judges awarding fees must make certain that attorneys are paid the full value that their efforts would receive on the open market in non-civil rights cases." *Hensley v. Eckerhart*, 461 U.S. 424, 435, 103 S.Ct. 1933 (1983).

C. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

For all these reasons, Appellants respectfully prays Appellee's

petition for discretionary review be denied and that Appellant's petition

for discretionary review be granted.

Respectfully submitted this 30th day of January, 2019.

/S/ Favian Valencia Favian Valencia, WSBA#43802 Attorney for Maria Espindola, Appellant Sunlight Law, PLLC. 402 E. Yakima Ave, Ste 730 Yakima, WA 98901 (509) 388-0231

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned makes the following declaration certified to be true under penalty of perjury pursuant to RCW 9A.72.085:

On the date given below, I hereby certify that the attached document hereto was served on the following in the manner indicated:

| Gary Lofland Meyer, Fluegge & Tenney 230 S. 2nd Street, #101 Yakima, WA 98901 | [x] Electronic mail [] Facsimile [] Legal Messenger [] U.S. mail [x] Other: via Court website |
|--|---|
|--|---|

| The Court of Appeals of the State of Washington Division III 500 N Cedar St Spokane, WA 99201-1905 Fax (509)456-4288 | [] Electronic mail [] Facsimile [] Legal Messenger [] U.S. first class mail [x] Other: Court website |
|--|--|
|--|--|

I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that the foregoing is true and correct

Executed this <u>30TH</u> day of January, 2019, at Yakima, Washington.

/s/ Favian Valencia Favian Valencia

APPENDIX

| Document Bates# |
|---|
| <i>Espindola v. Apple King</i> , No. 35262-5-III, 430 P.3d 663 (2018) 0001 |
| <i>Espindola v. Apple King,</i> No. 35262-5-III, Commissioner's Ruling on Discretionary Review |
| <i>Espindola v. Apple King,</i> No. 35262-5-III, Order Denying Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling on Discretionary Review) 00027 |
| Appellant's Medical Leave Documentation Notices to Appellee 00028 |
| Appellant's Testimony |

FILED NOVEMBER 29, 2018 In the Office of the Clerk of Court WA State Court of Appeals, Division III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

| MARIA G. ESPINDOLA, |) | No. 35262-5-III |
|--|---|-------------------|
| |) | |
| Petitioner, |) | |
| |) | |
| v. |) | PUBLISHED OPINION |
| |) | |
| APPLE KING, a limited liability company, |) | |
| |) | |
| Respondent. |) | |

PENNELL, A.C.J. — Under the state and federal family medical leave acts, an employee who is incapacitated due to a serious medical condition, such as pregnancy, has the right to take protected leave from work. This right persists even when an episode of incapacitation is unforeseeable. Should an employee invoke protected leave, including unforeseeable protected leave, an employer cannot use the employee's actions as a negative factor in a subsequent employment decision. Doing so would constitute retaliation in violation of state and federal law.

While employed with Apple King, Maria Espindola discovered she was pregnant. Over the course of her pregnancy, Ms. Espindola experienced medical complications that caused her to miss work. Apple King was aware of Ms. Espindola's pregnancy and knew she had experienced some health problems. Nevertheless, Apple King used some of Ms. Espindola's work absences as negative factors in its ultimate decision to terminate employment. According to Apple King, Ms. Espindola was properly penalized because she failed to comply with the company's attendance policy, requiring at least one day's advance notice of all medical absences not involving hospitalization.

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